# **BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY**

# FACULTY OF CHEMISTRY AND CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

# DEPARTMENT OF CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

# ABSTRACT

PhD Thesis

# COMPLETE INTEGRATION OF GLYCEROL INTO THE BIODIESEL PRODUCTION PROCESS.

# PURIFICATION AND CONVERSION TO A VALUE ADDED PRODUCT

Eng. Ancuta Roxana TRIFOI

Scientific supervisor

Prof. Dr. Eng. Paul Şerban AGACHI

Cluj – Napoca, 2015

# **Table of Contents**

PART I. OVERVIEW AND THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Application field and motivation	
1.2. Thesis objectives	6
1.3. Thesis structure	6
CHAPTER 2. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	
2.1. Glycerol from biodiesel industry	
2.2. Glycerol purification methods	
2.3. Glycerol acetals as diesel additives	
PART II. GLYCEROL VALORIZATION FROM BIODIESEL INDUSTRY	
CHAPTER 3. GLYCEROL PURIFICATION BY MOLECULLAR DISTILLATION	1
3.1. Molecular distillation process description	
3.2. Experimental equipment	
3.2.1. Laboratory equipment	
3.2.2. Pilot plant	
3.3. Theoretical analysis of the molecular distillation process parameters	
Case study- Glycerol evaporation	
3.3.1. The mean free path	
3.3.2. The Knudsen Number	
3.3.3. The evaporation rate	
3.4. Experimental part	
3.5. Results and discussions	

3.5.1. Batch distillation of crude glycerol	50
3.5.2. Molecular distillation of crude glycerol -laboratory experiments	52
3.5.3. Pilot plant tests	57
3.6. Analytical procedures	60
3.7. Conclusions	64
CHAPTER 4. GLYCEROL FORMAL SYNTHESIS	65
4.1. Process description	65
4.2. Experimental set-up	68
4.3. Results and discussions	70
4.3.1. Influence of feed composition	70
4.3.2. Influence of temperature	75
4.3.3. Influence of stirring speed	76
4.3.4. Process analysis	78
4.4. Analytical procedures	84
4.5. Conclusions	87
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	89
PERSONAL CONTRIBUTION	91
Bibliography	
Lists of figures	104
Lists of tables	106
List of papers	107
List of Patents/ Patent application	108

# Commission

## **President:**

Prof. dr. eng. Petru Ilea

## Referees

Prof. dr. eng. Vasile Mircea Cristea - Faculty of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering Babeş Bolyai University, Cluj Napoca Prof. dr eng.Grigore Bozga- Faculty of Applied Chemistry and Materials Science, University Politehnica of Bucharest Prof. dr. eng. Valentin Pleşu- Faculty of Applied Chemistry and Materials Science, University Politehnica of Bucharest

The public presentation: October 30, 2015

Key words : Biodiesel, glycerol, molecular distillation, acetals, glycerol formal

#### **1. Introduction**

The thesis's approach is of international interest, because it focuses on an industrial coproduct valorisation, in particular glycerol from biodiesel industry. The thesis presents a method for glycerol purification (molecular/short path distillation) and its valorisation to a product used as biofuel additive – glycerol formal.

**The first objective** of the thesis is the purification of crude glycerol, in order to gain some added value as a feed stock in a wide variety of industrial applications. Molecular distillation process for glycerol concentration was developed and tested at laboratory and pilot scale.

**The second objective** of the thesis is the conversion of purified glycerol to a value added product, used as an additive to improve fuel proprieties. The condensation of glycerol with formaldehyde to form glycerol formal compound, was studied in acid catalysis.

#### 2. Theoretical background

#### 2.1. Glycerol from biodiesel industry

Crude glycerol is yielded at about 10% (wt/wt) of biodiesel, as co product in the biodiesel production process. Until 2005 supply of raw glycerol in the market remained relatively stable, when the world production of biodiesel started to increase as it is used on large scales in the transport sector, especially for road vehicles, in aviation, to generate electricity, for cooking and in maritime transport (14).

The demand for biodiesel is not driven by the demand for glycerine and the availability of crude glycerol has been increased, and led to low sale prices, from 25 cents/lb in 2004, to less than a half in 2011, approximately 8 cents/lb. The crude glycerol price trend is presented in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Crude glycerol price trend (15)

Because the glycerol market is currently undergoing radical changes, driven by very large supplies of glycerol arising from biodiesel production, researchers and industry have been looking at new uses for glycerine to replace petrochemicals as a source of chemical raw materials, and in a relatively few years there have been an impressive series of achievements (16). The crude glycerol from biodiesel process possesses very low value because of its impurities and it can be used as it is for other compounds synthesis, it requires refining. It contains, apart from traces of methanol, also water, salts and MONG (Matter Organic Not Glycerol) (39; 40).

#### 2.2. Glycerol purification methods

Different methods have been used to purify crude glycerol: distillation, filtration, chemical treatment, adsorption, ion exchange (using resin), extraction, decantation and crystallization and for a high effectiveness two or more methods are combined (42).

Distillation is the most commonly used method for glycerol purification, it produces high purity glycerol but at low yields. This technology is an energy intensive process because of its high heat capacity, requiring a high supply of energy for vaporization (44). Chemical treatment of crude glycerol is another commonly used method. It has lower costs than other technologies, but the purity of the product is also lower. Ion exchange method is advantageous because is low cost and it can be easily scale up, but it is unfeasible for high salt content glycerol, the regeneration costs for resins are high and results large quantities of waste water (52). The technology using membranes is environment compatible, it has low energetic requirements and it's operation is very simple, but for the industrial scale the membrane separation technology is not fully optimized (57). With a novel process called *Ambersep BD50*, the glycerol has a purity of 99.5 wt % and has lower energy requirements compared to the traditional distillation process (58).

#### 2.3. Glycerol acetals as diesel additives

The valorisation of glycerol to glycerol acetals and ketals is of current interest for the researchers because they constitute excellent compounds for diesel and biodiesel blends, to improve the octane number and the cold flow properties, reduce particulate emission and gum formation (9; 12; 10).

To prepare glycerol acetal/ketal, the components are glycerol and an aldehyde or a ketone. Acetal formation is a reversible reaction via a two step mechanism. Glycerol reacting to aldehydes/ ketones results cyclic acetals (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Reaction mechanism of glycerol with aldehydes/ketones (63)

For glycerol acetalisation with aldehydes or ketones various types of catalysts has been tested and reported in the literature: natural catalysts (silicates and aluminosilicates), supported catalysts (impregnated catalysts: salts, oxides, acids, metals), catalysts obtained by precipitation (salts, oxides), organic catalysts ( ion exchange resins) etc.

#### Chapter 3. Glycerol purification by molecullar distillation

#### 3.1. Molecular distillation process description

Molecular distillation, also known as short path distillation or evaporative distillation is used for purification and separation of heat sensitive products, under high vacuum, up to 0.001 torr. The degree of separation effected by molecular distillation is comparable to that produced by a simple batch distillation and it is greatest when components differ in boiling point by 50°C or more (95).

Block diagram of a molecular distillation plant contains the degasification part, the molecular distillation column, the vacuum and the measurement and control system (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Block diagram of a molecular distillation process (98)

The parameters that describe the molecular distillation process and evaluated for the glycerol evaporation are: the mean free path of the molecules, the Knudsen number, the evaporation rate and the thickness of the falling film.

# 3.2. Experimental equipment

The laboratory and the pilot level experiments were carried out on falling film type column, at Research Institute of Organic Auxiliary Products SA, Medias Romania.



Figure 8. The laboratory falling film distillation column



Figure 11. Pilot falling film distillation column scheme. Vertical and horizontal view

3.3. Theoretical analysis of the molecular distillation process parameters. Case study- Glycerol evaporation

#### 3.3.1. The mean free path

Figure 12 shows the mean free path for glycerol ( $\lambda$ ), calculated at different pressures in 373-493 K temperature range. The glycerol molecules can reach the cooling surface if their mean free path is higher than 0.8 cm, for the laboratory column and 1.75 cm for the pilot column and this condition is accomplished for pressures below 0.3 mmHg. The mean free path of the impurities ( such as methyl ester, free fatty acid, mono-, di- and tryglycerides) is smaller and the distance between the evaporator and condenser and can be separated effectively due to the difference between mean free paths and molar masses.



Figure 12. Effect of temperature on glycerol mean free path

#### 3.3.2. The Knudsen Number

The distillation rate was evaluated through the Knudsen number (Figure 13). At a pressure of 0.1mmHg, the Knudsen number is in the intermediate range 0.05<Kn<10, showing a proper distillation rate and these conditions are the best to run the process.



Figure13. Effect of temperature on Knudsen number

#### 3.3.3. The evaporation rate

The evaporation rates (relative and effective) were calculated through Langmuir Knudsen equation, for a temperature range between 373K-423K and their dependence of temperature is shown in Figure 14. The values of the efficiency factor *f* are about 0.98 for the laboratory column and 0.9 for the pilot plant column. The difference between efficiency factors is due to the columns design, but both are closer to the the values of relative evaporation rate.



**Figure14.** Evaporation rate at different temperatures

An increased heat supply to the evaporated liquid causes its temperature to rise and thus induces the rise of saturated vapour pressure and distillation rate increase. An increase of the

temperature with 50°C, lead to an increase of the distillation rate by twenty times. The relative evaporation rate at 373 K is about 0.0056 g/cm<sup>2</sup>s and at 423 K is 0.1169 g/cm<sup>2</sup>s.

#### 3.4. Experimental part

To compare the results of the molecular distillation, a batch distillation has been also undertaken at laboratory level.

#### 3.5. Results and discussions

The maximum yield obtained in vacuum batch distillation was 58.85%, at 6mmHg and 160°C. The reduction in the amount of distilled glycerine obtained could be a result of three possibilities: (1) the formation of acroleine due to lose of water from glycerine at low pH. (2) The formation of poly-glycerol as a result of polymerization of glycerol at high pH in presence of high temperature and excess sodium hydroxide. This becomes part of bottom product. (3) The oxidation of glycerol to form glycerose a mixture of dihydroxyacetone and glyceraldehyde (112)

#### 3.5.2. Molecular distillation of crude glycerol -laboratory experiments

At the laboratory level the water was removed by batch distillation at about 333 K and 40 mmHg, because the plant was not adapted to remove the water in the same system. The composition of the glycerol after water removal was: 92.28% glycerol.

The influence of the feed flow rate and temperature on product yield and glycerol purity was studied.



Figure 15. Influence of feed flow rate on distillate volume of glycerol

The volume of the distilled fraction should increase with the feed flow rate, but experimentally approached a maximum value at 90 ml/min, after that the collected volume of glycerol started to decrease (Figure 15), due to the thickness of the evaporating falling film. At higher feed flow rates, the thickness of the film is larger, the velocity of the film is bigger and the contact with the heated surface is not enough for evaporation.

The thickness of the falling film was further analysed for feed flow rates from 80 ml/min to 110 ml/min, at 373 K, as shown in Figure 16. As expected, the thickness of the film increase when the feed flow increase.



Figure 16. Evaporating film thickness estimation at different feed flow rates. T=373 K

Temperature is also an important parameter because an increase in temperature can increase the mobility of the impurities too. At a feed flow rate of 90 ml/min, the purity of the distillated glycerol has been 99.2% at 393 K and at higher temperature is decreases (Figure 17).



Figure17. Influence of temperature on distillate purity at 0.3 mmHg; Q=90ml/min

At the working pressure of 0.3 mmHg and for a distance between the evaporator and condenser of 0.8 cm, the purity obtained for glycerol, in the distillate stream was about 99% (98.6-99.24%) in the temperature range of 373K-423K.

#### 3.5.3. Pilot plant tests

The light fraction (water and other volatiles) has been removed from the mixture in the same system, by heating the mixture in the dosing tank, under vacuum (323 K and 15 mmHg).

The mass balance obtained for the pilot experiments is listed in Table 6. The experiments were carried out at 0.1 mmHg, from 373 K-423 K, at the optimum feed flow rate estimated from the laboratory experiments. The feed flow rate, was now calculated from the film thickness. At a film thickness of 1.65 mm at the beginning of evaporation, resulted a feed flow rate of about 16.7 kg/h. The yield in glycerol is about 83.24%.

Evnoviment	Feed Mass	Distillate	Residue	Loss	Yield
Experiment	( <b>kg</b> )	(kg)	(kg)	(%)	(%)
1 T=393 K	11.4	10.3	2.14	1.49	83.24
2 T=403K	11	9.4	1.4	1.87	76.06
3 T=413 K	13.4	11.5	1.63	2	75.95
4 T=423 K	12.8	10.8	1.75	1.9	74.6

Table 6. Mass balance for molecular distillation process on pilot plant

The characteristics of the product, obtained at 393 K and 0.1 mmHg, operating at a feed flow rate of 16.7 kg/h mixture, are: glycerol content 98.9%; water: 0.85%; ash content: 0.01% and the MONG determined by difference are 0.24%.

Comparing these results with the results obtained by vacuum distillation but for the batch process, it can be concluded that molecular distillation can improve the yield of the glycerol. The

maximum yield in achieved in batch distillation was 58.85% and by molecular distillation was 83.24%.

#### 3.6. Analytical procedures

#### 3.6.1. Determination of glycerol content

The glycerol concentration was determined by HPLC method, on a Jasco Chromatograph (Japan). The separation was achieved on a Carbosep Coregel 87H3 column (300 x 7.8 mm) at temperature of 70 °C. The mobile phase was a sulphuric acid 0.01 M solution. The flow rate was  $1 \text{ mL min}^{-1}$ .

The retention time for glycerol is RT = 8.2 min (Figure 19) and the calibration curve shows a very good correlation factor, r=0.9992 (Figure 20) for the concentration range analysed (1-20 mg/ml).





# 3.6.2. Determination of water content



Figure 20. HPLC Calibration curve for glycerol

The water was determined following the standard method ISO 2097:1972 " *Glycerol for industrial use- Determination of water content- Karl Fisher method*" (115), using Metrohm 701 KF Titrino apparatus.

#### 3.6.3. Determination of ash content

Ash content was analysed according to the Standard method ISO 2098:1972 " *Glycerol for industrial use- Determination of ash-Gravimetric method*" (116), by burning a quantity of glycerol in a furnace.

#### 3.6.4. Determination of MONG

The MONG, matter organic non-glycerol was calculated by the difference from a hundred of the glycerol, water and ash content according to the Standard method ISO 2464:2000 "Crude glycerine for industrial use – Calculation of Matter (Organic) Non-Glycerol (MONG)" (117).

#### 3.6.5. Changes in the functional groups investigation

The FTIR analysis were done to investigate the changes in the functional groups found in the purified glycerol compared to crude glycerol. FTIR analyses were carried out using ATR – FTIR technique on a Bruker Tensor 27 Spectrometer controlled with the OPUS software. The samples were analysed on a ZnSe crystal. The resulted spectrum for glycerol, are shown in Figure 21. The main functional groups of ultra pure glycerol includes the O-H stretching at 3300 cm<sup>-1</sup>, C-H stretching at 2880 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2930 cm<sup>-1</sup>, C-O-H bending at 1330 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1420 cm<sup>-1</sup>, C-O stretching from 1100 cm<sup>-1</sup> as primary alcohol to 1450 cm<sup>-1</sup>, representing secondary alcohol, O-H bending at 920 cm<sup>-1</sup> and also the H2O bending at 1650 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The spectra of crude glycerol additionally showed strong FTIR peak at 1730 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicating the presence of impurities. The sharp peak at 1730 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicate the presence of C=O compounds of an ester or carboxylic acid of fatty acid. For the purified glycerol the sharp peak at 1730.



Figure 21. ATR-FTIR spectra for glycerol: Ultra pure glycerol; purified glycerol and raw glycerol

#### 3.7. Conclusions

A theoretical analysis of the molecular distillation process has been developed for glycerol evaporation case. The condition for the molecular distillation process is that the mean free path of the molecules to be higher than the distance between the evaporator and condenser of the column. It resulted that the mean free path of the molecules is higher than the distance for pressure below 0.3 mmHg ( for laboratory column) and below 0.2 mmHg for pilot plant column, for temperatures up to 493 K.

The influence of feed flow rate and evaporator temperature on yield and purity of glycerol was determined. The experiments were carried out at laboratory and pilot level.

The influence of feeding flow rate and of evaporator temperature were investigated and resulted that the quantity of the distillate glycerol increase with the feed flow rate up to one point

and after that decrease. This is explained due to the thickness of the evaporating film which increase with the feed flow rate and has been estimated from the equation expressing the flow of a liquid on a tube.

From the results it can be concluded that molecular distillation is an effective tool for glycerol purification because the purity in glycerol was improved from 84% up to 99%, with a good yield of about 80-83%.

#### Chapter 4. Glycerol formal synthesis

#### 4.1. Process description

Glycerol formal is a mixture of 5-hydroxy-1,3-dioxane and 4-hydroxymethyl-1,3-dioxolane. The reaction scheme for acetalization of glycerol with formaldehyde is given by the following equation (72; 7):



The objective of this study is to use the glycerol, purified as described in previous chapter for the synthesis of glycerol formal, in acid catalyses, without to remove the water from the system, in a solvent free process.

The block scheme for the glycerol formal synthesis, studied in this thesis is presented in Figure 23.



Figure 23. Block Scheme for glycerol formal synthesis

#### 4.2. Experimental set-up

The experiments were carried out in a 1 L glass reactor provided with a mechanical stirrer, a total reflux condenser to condense all the vapors and a thermometer for temperature monitoring. The reaction temperature was controlled by an external thermostat. The materials used for the synthesis are: **the purified glycerol**, obtained by molecular distillation as described in the previous chapter, p-formaldehyde (95%), catalyst-  $H_2SO_4$  (98%), neutralizer- NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and solvent -toluene ( for preliminary experiments).

The polymer p-formaldehyde is insoluble in glycerol and therefore the reaction between glycerol and araformaldehyde in the presence of heterogeneous catalyst is negligible.

#### 4.3. Results and discussions

To evaluate the process the influence of feed composition, of temperature and of stirring speed were evaluated.

#### 4.3.1. Influence of feed composition

#### a) The effect of the solvent

The effect of the solvent ( toluene) on the reaction system was investigated in order to check if it influences the equilibrium to be shifted to the right, because of the water removal.

It resulted that for glycerol acetalisation with p-formaldehyde, it is not necessary to use a solvent to shift the equilibrium to the right. Furthermore, the solvent does not improve the reaction time or GF yield and it is toxic, expensive and occupy a large volume of reactor, so the solvent free synthesis is preferred.

#### b) The effect of feed mole ratios

Different feed molar ratios (glycerol to p-formaldehyde = 1:1 to 1.4:1) were tested in order to check if the excess of a reactant influences the equilibrium of the reaction. All the experiments were performed at 373K and 800rpm, with 0,44 wt % of sulphuric acid catalyst.

It resulted that the higher glycerol formal yield was obtained after 3 h of reaction at a molar ratio of glycerol : p-formaldehyde of 1.2:1 (figure 26). At a stoichiometric ratio the yield in glycerol formal was 94.4% after 4 hours of reaction and at 1.2:1 molar ratio the yield was 98.05% after 3 h of reaction.



Figure 26. Glycerol formal yield at different molar ratio of glycerol: p-formaldehyde.

#### T= 373 K; cat. 0,44wt%

In all the cases, when an excess of glycerol was used, the maximum yield was achieved after 3 h of reaction, after that it started to decrease. This is due to the appearance of a co-product of condensation of glycerol formal with glycerol. This can been also concluded from the concentration of glycerol in time, because after three hours, the glycerol concentration continue to decrease, meanwhile the yield in glycerol formal decrease after three hours. For a glycerol: formaldehyde molar ratio of 2:1 or more the presence of the co-product (E) is more obviously (Figure 27). The higher yield in glycerol formal is for a glycerol:formaldehyde molar ratio of 1.2:1, after three hours of reaction, but it also appears the co-product resulted from the etherification of glycerol with glycerol formal, which make the product separation more difficult and the further experiments were carried out in a stoichiometric molar ratio.



Figure 27. Concentration of the reactants and products in time at different glycerol:formaldehyde molar ratio. T=373 K

#### 4.3.2. Influence of temperature

Different temperatures were tested and as in all the previous experiments the tests were performed with 0,44 wt% of catalyst and at 1000 rpm. In this case 1:1 glycerol to formaldehyde molar ratio was used.



Figure 28. Effect of the temperature on product yield. 1:1 glycerol to formaldehyde molar ratio, 0,44wt% catalyst and at 1000 rpm.

For the acetalization reaction of glycerol and formaldehyde, an increase of temperature does not imply any significant change of the equilibrium conversion above 373 K (Figure 28 and Figure 30) only the reaction rate increases when the temperature increases, but also the byproduct formation is favored.

#### 4.3.3. Influence of stirring speed

In order to avoid mass transfer resistance the effect of stirring speeds was also studied. The experiments were carried out at 400 rpm; 650 rpm and 1000 rpm and no important effect of the agitation on the conversion rate was observed, in the first part of the synthesis. (Figure 29).

The experiments were performed with a stoichiometric feed ratio (1:1 of glycerol to formaldehyde molar ratio) at 373 K with 0.44 wt% catalyst.



Figure 29. Effect of stirring speed on formaldehyde conversion rate. G:FA =1:1 molar ratio; T =373 K, 0.44%wt catalyst.

The effect of the temperature is much higher over the reaction rate than the mass transfer is, but the stirring speed influences the process, more after the product is formed, because in the first part of the reaction there is almost no difference between the conversion rates at different stirring speeds, but as the product is formed with the reaction evolution, a slight difference between conversion rates at different stirring speed is observed.

#### 4.3.4. Process analysis

The process analysis was done in order determine the activation parameters for the reaction between glycerol and p-formaldehyde, necessary to develop the mathematical model of the process.



Figure 30. Formaldehyde conversion rate at different temperatures

The activation parameters, the preexponential factor A and the activation energy were determined from the linearization of Arrhenius equation,  $\ln (k)=\ln A-Ea/RT$  (Figure 31), which present a good correlation (r>0.9) for all the conversion grades.

The activation energies for the glycerol formal synthesis decrease when the conversion increase ( see table 10), showing that the reaction is not only kinetically controlled but also by the mass transfer. This is also confirmed by the results obtained at different stirring speeds.



**Figure 31.** ln(k)=f(1/T)

n	Ea(kcal/mol)	Α
0.1	13.71124	11.46
0.2	11.05328	7.12
0.3	9.715356	4.95
0.5	7.973868	2.16

# Table10 Activation parameters for the reaction between glycerol and p-formaldehyde at different conversion grades

The synthesis of glycerol formal from glycerol and formaldehyde is a mixt process, controlled not only kinetically but as by the mass transfer, consideration that has to be taken into account when a detailed model of the process is developed.

#### 4.4. Analytical procedures

#### 4.4.1. Formaldehyde determination

Formaldehyde concentration was determined by titrimetric method with ammonium chloride (122), which is based on the reaction:

#### $6CH_2O+4NH_3 \longrightarrow (CH_2)_6N_4 + 6H_2O$

## 4.4.2. Determination of Glycerol and Glycerol formal

The sample were analyzed by gas chromatography coupled with mass spectroscopy (GC-MS), using using a flame ionization detector (FID). The column was an Agilent capillary column DB-1: 60 m X 0.53 mm X 5  $\mu$ m, used with Helium as the carrier gas.

A representative spectra is presented in Figure 32. The retention time (RT) for glycerol formal is 9.37 min, where both of the isomers can be observed. The glycerol RT is 14.19 min. and other heavy compounds ( polyether) present in the sample have the RT 26.9 min.



Figure 32. GC spectra of glycerol formal

#### 4.4.3. Determination of water content

The water content was determined by Karl Fisher method, using Metrohm 701 KF Titrino apparatus.

## 4.4.4 Changes in the functional groups investigation

The changes were investigated using ATR-FTIR technique, and the analysis were carried out on a Bruker Tensor 27 Spectrometer ( on a ZnSe crystal ) controlled with the OPUS software. The resulted spectrum for the reactants, glycerol and an aqueous solution of formaldehyde and for the product, glycerol formal are presented in Figure 33.

The IR spectra of acetals and ketals, presents 4-5 bands between 1040-1200, for the C-O-C bending (123), that can be seen in the Figure 33. The wide band for O-H stretching at 3300 cm<sup>-1</sup>, is smaller for glycerol formal and it is moved to 3420 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicating that the O-H group was consumed in the reaction.



Figure 33. IR spectra for glycerol formal synthesis.

The characteristics of the obtained product are:

~---

Crt.	Characteristics	Values
1	Glycerol formal content (%)	98
2	Glycerol (%)	0.29
3	Polyols (%)	1.7
4	Appearance	colorless

#### 4.5. Conclusions

In this work, we present results of glycerol formal synthesis using p-formaldehyde and purified glycerol. Effects of various reaction conditions, including reaction temperature, molar ratio of reactants, and stirring speed have been examined in order to assess the viability of converting glycerol to this acetal product.

Formaldehyde acetals are stable to hydrolysis and it is not necessary to use a solvent to shift the equilibrium to the right, by water removal. Furthermore, the solvent does not improve the reaction time or GF yield and it is toxic, expensive and occupy a large volume of reactor, so the solvent free synthesis is preferred. The higher yield in glycerol formal was achieved for a glycerol:formaldehyde molar ratio of 1.2:1, after three hours of reaction (98.05%), but it also appears the co-product resulted from the etherification of glycerol with glycerol formal, which make the product separation more difficult.

An increase of temperature does not imply any significant change of the equilibrium conversion above 373 K (Figure 28 and Figure 30) only the reaction rate increases when the temperature increases, but also the byproduct formation is favored. The stirring speed also influences the process, but after the product is formed, because in the first part of the reaction there is almost no difference between the conversion rates at different stirring speeds, but as the product is formed with the reaction evolution, a slight difference between conversion rates at different stirring speed is observed.

The activation energies for the glycerol formal synthesis decrease when the conversion increase (see table 10) and from their values (> 10 kcal/mol), results that the reaction is not only kinetically controlled but also by the mass transfer. This is also confirmed by the results obtained at different stirring speeds.

The aim of this study was the process analysis of glycerol formal synthesis and the results presented in this work provide information to understand similar acetalisation processes between glycerol and other aldehyde/ketones, with different catalysts and establish a theoretic basis for development of large-scale glycerol acetal production process, that can offer new insights for glycerol conversion to added-value products such as diesel additives.

## **Bibliography**

1. *Biodiesel feasibility study: An evaluation of material compatibility; performance; 2011, emission and engine durability.* **Fazal MA, Haseeb AS , Masjuki HH.** Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 15, pp. 1314–24.

2. A review on prediction of properties of biodiesel and blends of biodiesel. Saxena P, Jawale S, Joshipura MH. 2013, Procedia Engineering , pp. 395-402.

3. A comprehensive review on biodiesel as an alternative energy resource and its characteristics. . Atabania AE, Silitonga AS, Badruddina IA, Mahliaa TMI, Masjukia HH and Mekhilefd S. 2012, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 16, pp. 2070-93.

4. Comparison of feedstocks and technologies for biodiesel production: An environmental and techno-economic evaluation. **Rincon LE, Jaramillo JJ, Cardona CA.** 2014, Renewable Energy, Vol. 69, pp. 479-87.

5. An overview on glycerol-free processes for the production of renewable liquid biofuels, applicable in diesel engines. Calero J, Luna D, Sancho ED, Luna C, Bautista FM, Romero AA et al. 2015, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 42, pp. 1437-52.

6. Rapid Purification of glyceol by-product from biodiesel production through combined process of microwave assisted acidification and adsorption via chitosan immobilized with yeast. **Saiffudin N, Refal H, Kumaran P.** 3, 2014, Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology, Vol. 7, pp. 593-02.

7. Coleman T, Blankenship A. *Process for the preparation of glycerol formal.* 0094027 US, 2010.

8. Proprieties of fatty acid glycerol formal esters (FAGE) for use as a component in blends for diesel engines. Lapuerta M, Rodriguez-Fernandez J, Estevez C, Bayarri N. 2015, Biomass and bioenergy, Vol. 76, pp. 130-40.

9. Delfort B, Duran I, Jaecker A, Lacome T, Montagne X, Paille F. Diesel fuel compounds containing glycerol acetal. 890364 US, 2005.

10. New class of acetal derived from glycerin as a biodiesel fuel component. Garcia E, Laca M, Pe'rez P, Garrido A, Peinado J. 2008, Energy Fuels, pp. 4271-80.

11. Glycerin derivatives as fuel additives: the addition of glycerol/acetone ketal (solketal) in gasolines. Mota CJA, da Silva CXA, RosenbachJr N, Costa J, da Silva F.2733-6., 4, 2010, Energy Fuels, Vol. 24, pp. 2733-6.

12. A solid-acid-based process for the conversion of hemicellulose. Dhepe P L, Sahu R. 2010 and 2153-6., 12:. 2010, Green Chemistry, Vol. 12, pp. 2153-6.

13. Comparison of glycerol ketals, glycerol acetates and branched alcohol-derived fatty esters as cold-flow improvers for palm biodiesel. Giraldo SY, Rios LA, Suárez N. 2013 and 709–14., 108:. 2013, Fuel, Vol. 108, pp. 709-14.

14. The global biofuels market: energy security, trade and development. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. 2014; ; No 30 October.

15. Anaerobic fermentation of glycerol: a platform for renewable fuels and chemicals. Clomburg J M, Gonzalez R. 2013, Trends in Biotechnology, Vol. 31, pp. 20-8.

16. **M., Pagliaro M and Rossi.** The Future of Glycerol: New Uses of a Versatile Raw Material. Chapter 1. Glycerol: Properties and Production. *RSC Green Chemistry Book Series.* 2008.

17. Feeding glycerol to transition dairy cows : effects on blood metabolites and lactation performance. **Defrain JM, Hippen AR, Kalscheur KF, Jardon PW.** 2004, Journal of Dairy Science, Vol. 87, pp. 4195-206.

18. *Effects of feeding dry glycerin to early postpartum Holstein dairy cows on lactation performance and metabolic profiles.* Chung YH, Rico DE, Martinez CM, Cassidy TW, Noirot N, Ames A, et al. 2007, Journal of Dairy Science 2007, Vol. 90, pp. 5682-91.

19. Feeding value of glycerol as a replacement for corn grain in rations fed to lactating dairy cows. Donkin SS, Koser SL, White HM, Doane PH, Cecava MJ. 10, 2009, Journal of Dairy Science, Vol. 92, pp. 5111–9.

20. *Replacing corn with glycerol in diets for transition dairy cows*. Carvalho ER, Schmelz-Roberts NS, White HM, Doane PH, Donkin SS. 2, 2011, Journal of Dairy Science, Vol. 94, pp. 908-16.

21. Evaluation of Glycerine from biodiesel production as a feed ingredient for broilers. Cerrate S, Yan F, Wang Z, Coto C, Sacakli P, Waldroup PW. 2006, Journal of Poultry Science, Vol. 5, pp. 1001–7.

22. *Glycerin-A New Energy Source for Poultry*. **Min YN, Yan F , Liu FZ , Coto C and Waldroup PW.** 1, 2010, International Journal of Poultry Science , Vol. 9 , pp. 1-4.

23. Effect of dietary glycerin supplementation in the starter diet on broiler performance. Henz JR, Nunes RV, Eyng C, Pozza PC, Frank R, Schone RA, Oliveira TMM. 12, 2014, Czech Journal of Animal Science, Vol. 59, pp. 557–63.

24. *Effect of crude glycerin level in the diet of laying hens on egg performance and nutrient utilization.* **Swiatkiewicz S, Koreleski J.** 2009, Poultry Science , Vol. 88, pp. 615–19.

25. Use of pure glycerol in fattening heavy pigs. Casa GD, Bochicchio D, Faeti V, Marchetto G, Poletti E, Rossi A, et al. 2009, Meat Science 2009, Vol. 81, pp. 238-44.

26. Evaluation of glycerol, a biodiesel coproduct, in grow-finish pig diets to support growth and pork quality. Schieck SJ, Shurson GC, Kerr BJ, Johnston LJ. 2010, Journal Animal Science, Vol. 88, pp. 3297-35.

27. Lammers PJ, Honeyman MS, Bregendahl K, Kerr BJ, Weber TE. *Growth Performance of Growing Pigs Fed Crude Glycerol-Supplemented Diets. Animal Industry Report. ASL R2357.* 2008. retrieved from: http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1396&context=ans\_air.

28. Synthesis of Epichlorohydrin from Glycerol Hydrochlorination of Glycerol. Dmitriev G, Zanaveskin N.

29. W, Kanzler. Process for preparing epichlorohydrin from glycerol. 0035380 US, 2012.

30. *Industrial &Engineering Research* . Santacesaria S, Tesser R, Di Serio M. 3, 2009, New process for producing epichlorohydrin via glycerol chlorination, Vol. 49, pp. 964-70.

31. *1*, *3 Propanediol production from crude glycerol by Clostridium butyricum DSP1 in repeated batch.* **D, Szymanowska-Powalowska.** 6, 2014, Electronic Journal of Biotechnology , Vol. 17, pp. 322-8.

32. Production of 1,3 propanediol by hydrogenolysis of glycerol catalyzed by Pt/WO3/ZrO2. Kurosaka T, Maruyama H, Naribayashi I, Sasaki Y. 6, 2008, Catalysis Communications, Vol. 9, pp. 1360-3.

33. *Kinetic analysis of aerobic batch fermentation of 1,3-propanediol by Klebsiella Pneumoniae.* **Cheng KK, Liu HJ, Liu DH.** 2005, Modern Chemical Industry , Vol. 25, pp. 185-8.

34. Challenges in the production of hydrogen from glycerol –A biodiesel byproduct via stream reforming process. Avasthi K, Reddy RN, Patel S. 2013, Procedia Engineering, Vol. 51, pp. 423-9.

35. *Hydrogen production from glycerol: An update*. Adhikari S, Fernando SD, Haryanto A. 10, 2009, Energy Conversion and Management , Vol. 50, pp. 2600-04.

36. Hydrogen Production via Glycerol Steam Reforming over Ni/Al2O3: Influence of Nickel Precursors. **Wu G, Zhang C, Li S, Han Z, Wang T, Ma X, Gong J.** 8, 2013, ACS Sustainable Chemistry&Engineering 2013, Vol. 1, pp. 1052-62.

37. Goetsch D, Machay IS, White LR. *Production of methanol from crude glycerol by-product of producing biodiesel.* 7388034 US, 2008.

38. *Conversion of glycerol to methanol in the presence of zeolite based catalysts*. **Mohamed M, Sie Ting T, Amin NAS, Abdullah TAT, Mat R.** 2011. Clean Energy and Technology (CET), IEEE First Conference on 3. pp. 389-93.

39. *Glycerol: Production, consumption, prices, characterization and new trends in combustion.* **Quispe CAG, Coronado CJR, Carvalho JA.** 2013, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 27, pp. 475–93.

40. Residual glycerol from biodiesel manufacturing, waste or potential source of bioenergy: a review. Santibáñez C, Varnero MT, Bustamante M. 3, 2011, Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research, Vol. 71.

41. *Characterization of crude glycerol from biodiesel production for multiple feedstocks* . **Thompson JC, He BB.** 2006, Applied Engineering in Agriculture , Vol. 22, pp. 261-5.

42. *Glycerol Productuon and its aplications as raw material: A review.* **TAN, H. W., ABDUL AZIZ, AR., AROUA, MK.** 27, 2013, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, pp. 118-27.

43. *Crude glycerine recovery from glycerol residue waste from a palm kern oil methyl ester plant* . **Yong KC, Ooi TI, Dzulkefly K, Wan Yunus WMZ, Hazimah AH.** 2, 2001, Journal of Oil Palm Research, Vol. 13, pp. 16-22.

44. Continuoaus esterification for biodiesel production from palm fatty acid distillate using economical process. Chingkhong S, Tongurai C, Chetpattananondh P. 4, 2009, Renewable Energy 34, Vol. 34, pp. 1059-63.

45. *Purification of crude glycerol derived from waste used-oil methyl ester plant.* **Kongjao S, Damronglerd S, Hunsom M.** 2010, Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering , Vol. 27, pp. 944-49.

46. *Crude glycerine recovery from glycerol residue waste from a palm kernel oil methyl ester plant*. **Ooi TL, Yong KC, Dzulkefly K Wanyunus WMZ, Hazimah AH.** 2001, Journal of Oil Palm Resources, Vol. 13, pp. 16-22.

47. Purification of Crude Glycerol using Acidification: Effects of Acid Types and Product Characterization. Nanda MR, Yuan Z, Qin W, Poirier MA and Chunbao X. 2014, Austin Journal of Chemical Engineering, Vol. 1, p. 1004.

48. Purification of glycerol/water solutions from biodiesel synthesis by ion exchange: sodium removal part I. Carmona S, Valverde J, Perez A. 2008, Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, Vol. 84, pp. 738–44.

49. Ferreira MO, de Sousa EMBD, Pereira CG. 2013, International Journal of Chemical Reactor Engineering, Vol. 11, pp. 1-8.

50. *Refining the glycerin phase from palm oil biodiesel by ion exchange with cationic resins.* Gallego Morales LJ, Cardeño López F, Rios LA. 11, 2013, Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, Vol. 88, pp. 1978-1983.

51. Purification of crude glycerol from transesterification RBD palm oil over homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts for the biolubricant preparation. Isahak MIWNRW, Yarmo MA, Jahim JM, Salimon J. 2010, Journal of Applied Science, Vol. 10, pp. 2590–5.

52. Carmona M, Valverde L, Perez A, Warchol J, Rodriguez JF. 2009, Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology, Vol. 84, p. 738.

53. Kang IJ, Lee CH. 2003, Water Resources, Vol. 37, p. 1192.

54. Strathmann H. 2007, AIChE J, Vol. 47, p. 1077.

55. Gomes MCS, Pereira NC, Barros STD. Journal of Membrane Science, Vol. 352, p. 272.

56. A feasibility investigation on ultrafiltration of palm oil and olei acid removal from glycerin solutions: Flux decline, fouling pattern, rejection and membrane characterizations. Mah SK, Leo CP, Wu TY, Chai SP. 2012, Journal of Membrane Science, Vol. 389.

57. *Novasep, Rohm and Haas form global alliance for glycerol purification.* 3, 2008, Filtration Industry Analyst, Vol. 2008, p. 6.

58. **Hendrickson JB, Cram DJ, Hammond GS.** *Chimie Organica*. s.l. : Bucuresti :Editura stiintifica si enciclopedica, 1976.

59. Valorization of glycerol into fuel additives over zeolites as catalysts. Serafim H, Fonseca IM, Ramos AM, Vital J, Castanheiro JE. 2011, Chemical Engineering Journal 178, Vol. 178, pp. 291-6.

60. Bruchmann B, Hiiberle K, Gruner H, Hirn M. Preparation of cyclic acetals or ketals. 5917059 US, 1999.

61. **Bărbulescu E, Bărbulescu N, Greff C.** *Reactii ale compusilor organici*. Bucuresti : Editura tehnica, 1972.

62. Gold Catalysts and solid catalysts for biomass transformations: Valorization of glycerol and glycerol – water mixtures through formation of cyclic acetals. Ruiz VE, Velty A, Santos LL, Perez LA, Sabater MJ, Iborra S et al. 2010, Journal of Catalysis, Vol. 351, pp. 351-7.

63. Synthesis of Solketal from Glycerol and Its Reaction with Benzyl Alcohol. Suriyaprapadilok N, Kitiyanan B. 2011, Energy Procedia, Vol. 9, pp. 63 – 9.

64. *Microwave-assisted rapid valorization of glycerol towards acetals and ketals.* **Pawar RR, Jadhav SV, Bajaj HC.** 2014, Chemical Engineering Journal , Vol. 235, pp. 61–6.

65. Sato S, Araujo AS, Miyano M. Process for the production of glycerol acetals. 0207927 US, 2008.

66. *The influence of impurities on the acid-catalyzed reaction of glycerol with acetone*. **Da Silva CXA, Mota CJA.** 2 0 11, B i o m a s s and Bi o e n e r gy , Vol. 35, pp. 3547-51.

67. Preparation of High Octane Oxygenate Fuel Components from Plant Derived Polyols. Maksimov AL, Nekhaev AI, Ramazanov DN, Arinicheva YA, Dzyubenko AA, Khadzhiev SN. 2011, Petroleum Chemistry, Vol. 51, pp. 61-9.

68. Room temperature synthesis of solketal from acetalization of glycerol with acetone: Effect of cristallite size and the role of acidity of beta zeolite. Manjunathan P, Maradur SP, Halgeri AB, Shanbhag V. 2015, Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical, Vol. 396, pp. 47-54.

69. *Investigation on heterogeneously catalysed condensation of glycerol to cyclic acetals.* **Deutsch J, Martin A, Lieske H.** 2007, Journal of Catalysis, Vol. 245, pp. 428-35.

70. *Glycerol upgrading by ketalization in a zeolite membrane reactor*. **Roldan L, Mallada R, Fraile JM, Mayora JA, Menendez M.** 2009, Asia Pac Journal Chemical Engineering , Vol. 4, pp. 279-84.

71. Acetalization of Glycerol with Formaldehyde by Reactive Distillation . Hasabnis A, Mahajani S. 2014 , Industrial & Enginering Chemistry Research , Vol. 53, p. 12279–87.

72. Glycerol valorization as biofuels: Selection of a suitable solvent for an innovative process for the synthesis of GEA. Faria RPV, Pereira CSM, Siva V MTM, Loureiro JM, Rodrigues AE. 2013, Chemical Engineering Journal, Vol. 233, pp. 159-67.

73. Thermodynamic and kinetic studies of a catalytic process to convert glycerol into solketal as an oxygenated fuel additive. Nanda MR, Yuan Z, Qin W, ghaziaskar HR, Poirer MA, Xu CC. 2014, Fuel, Vol. 117, pp. 470-7.

74. *Glycerol acetals, kinetic study of the reaction between glycerol and formaldehyde.* Agirre I, Garcia I, Requies J, Barrio VL, Guemez MB, Cambra JF et al. 2011, Biomass and Bioenergy, Vol. 35, pp. 3636-42.

75. *Glycerol acetals as diesel additives:Kinetic study of the reaction between glycerol and acetaldehyde.* Agirre I, Guemez MB, Uguarte A, Requies J, Barrio VL, , Cambra JF et al. 2013, Fuel processing technology, Vol. 116, pp. 182-8.

76. Acetalization reaction between glycerol and n-butyraldehyde using an acidic ion exchange resin. Kinetic Modelling. Guemez MB, Requies J, Agirre I, Arias PL, Bario L, Cambra JF. 2013, Chemical Engineering Journal, Vol. 228, pp. 300-7.

77. Optimization of glycerol ketalization to produce solketal as biodiesel additive in a continuous reactor with supercritical acetone using Purolite PD 206 as catalyst. Shirani M, Ghaziaskar HS, Xu CC. 2014, Fuel Processing Technology, Vol. 124, pp. 206-11.

78. Solventless acetalization of glycerol with acetone to fuel oxygenates over Ni-Zi supported mesoporous carbon catalyst. **Khayoon MS, Hameed BH.** 2013, Applied Catalysis A: General, Vols. 464-465, pp. 191-9.

79. Selective Acetalization of Glycerol with Acetone Over Nickel Nanoparticles Supported on Multi-Walled Carbon Nanotubes. Khayoon MS, Abbas A, Hameed BH, Triwahyono S, Jalil AA, Harris AT et al. 2014, Catalysis Letters, Vol. 144, pp. 1009–15.

80. Selective glycerol transformation to high value-added products by aluminosilicate-supported iron oxide nanoparticles. Gonzalez-Arellano C, De S and Luque R. 2014, Catalyst Science and Technology, Vol. 4, pp. 4242-9.

81. Design of highly efficient Zn-, Cu-, Ni- and Co-promoted M-AlPO4solid acids: The acetalization of glycerol with acetone. Zhang S, Zhao Z, Ao Y. 2015, Applied Catalysis A: General 9., Vol. 496, pp. 32–9.

82. Synthesis and testing of glycerol ketals as components for diesel fuel. **Oprescu EE**, **Stepan E**, **Dragomir RE**, **Radu A**, **Rosca P**. 2013, Fuel Processing Technology, Vol. 110, pp. 214-7.

83. *Eco-friendly synthesis of bio-additive fuels from renewable glycerol using nanocrystalline SnO2- based solid acids*. **Mallesham B, Sudarsanam P, Reddy BM.** 2014, Catalyst Science and Technology , Vol. 4, pp. 803-13.

84. Catalytic acetalization of biomass glycerol with acetone over TiO2–SiO2 mixed oxides. Fan CN, Xu CH, Liu CQ, Huang ZY, Liu JY, Ye ZX. 2012, ReacKinetMech Cat, Vol. 107, pp. 189–202.

85. Synthesis of bio–additive fuels from acetalization of glycerol with benzaldehyde over molybdenum promoted green solid acid catalysts. Sudarsanam P, Mallesham B, Prasad AN, Reddy PS,. Reddy BM. 2013, Fuel Processing Technology , Vol. 106, pp. 539–45.

86. Acetalization of glycerol using mesoporous MoO3/SiO2 solid acid catalyst. Umbarkar SB, .Kotbagi TV, Biradar AV, Pasricha R, Chanale J, Dongare MK et al. 2009, Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical , Vol. 390, pp. 150–8.

87. Modified Niobium Oxyhydroxide catalyst: An acetalization reaction to produce Bio-additives for sustainable use of waste glycerol. Souza TE, Portilho MF, Souza PMTG, Souza PP, Oliveira LCA. 2014, Chem Cat Chem, Vol. 6, pp. 2961-9.

88. Amphiphilic property of niobium oxyhydroxide for waste glycerol conversion to produce solketal. Souza TE, Padula ID, Teodoro MMG, Chagas P, Resende JM, Souza PP, Luiz C.A. Oliveira LCA. 2015, Catalysis Today, Vol. 254, pp. 83–9.

89. Origins of the Regioselectivity in the Lutetium Triflate Catalyzed Ketalization of Acetone with Glycerol: A DFT Study. Pierpont AW, Batista ER, Martin RL, Chen W, Kim JK, Hoyt, CB et al. 2015, ACS Catalysis, Vol. 5, p. 1013–9.

90. *Metal triflate catalysed acetal exchange reactions of glycerol under solvent-free conditions.* **Smith BM, Kubczyk TM and Graham AE.** 2012, RSC Advanced , Vol. 2, pp. 2702-06.

91. Conversion of platform chemical glycerol to cyclic acetals promoted by acidic ion liquids. Wang B, Shen Y, Sun J, Xu F, Sun R. 2014, Royal Society of Chemistry Advances, Vol. 4, pp. 18917-23.

92. Utilization of renewable resources: Condensation of glycerol with acetone at room temperature catalyzed by organic-inorganic hybrid catalyst. Sandesh S, Halgeri AB, Ganapati V. Shanbhag GV. 2015, Journal of Molecular Catalysis A: Chemical , Vol. 401, pp. 73-80.

93. *Glycerol ketals: Synthesis and profits in biodiesel blend.* **De Torres M, Jiménez-osés G, Mayoral JA, Pires E, Santos M.** 2012, Fuel , Vol. 94, pp. 614-6.

94. **EW**, **Berg.** *Physical and chemical methods of separation*. s.l. : McGraw-Hill Book Company Inc. New York, San Francisco, Toronto, London, 1963. pp. 39-42.

95. Roibu, VI. Distilare – Fractionare. s.l. : Editura Tehnica Bucuresti , 1963. pp. 485-486.

96. **L Oniciu, I Zsako.** *Chimie Fizica 2. Starile de agregare si termodinamica chimica.* s.l. : Editura Tehnica Bucuresti , 1968. pp. 235-236.

97. Drugarin, C. Distilarea moleculara. s.l. : Editura Facla Timisoara, 1985.

98. **SS Handa, SPS Khanuja, G Longo, DD Rakesh.** *Extraction Technologies for Medicinal and Aromatic Plants.* s.l. : International Centre for Science and High Technology, Trieste, 2008. pp. 137-138.

99. Effect of operating conditions on the concentration of monoglycerides using molecular distillation. L. V. Fregolente, P. B. L. Fregolente, A. M. Chicuta, C. B. Batistella, R. Maciel Filho and M. R. Wolf-Maciel. 2007, Chemical Engineering Research and Design, Vol. 85, pp. 1524-28.

100. Design of a molecular distillatory and study of temperature, flow rate of feed and methylation on Extraction of DHA and EPA from fish oil. Hallajisani A, Ghorbanian SA, Moazezi N.

101. **W, Shurong.** Chapter 16. High-Efficiency Separation of Bio-Oil. [book auth.] Biomass now- Sustainable Growth and use. 2013.

102. *Mean free path of molecules on molecular distillation*. Lutisan J, Cvengros J. 1995, The Chemical Engineering Journal, Vol. 56, pp. 39-50.

103. *Modelling of Molecular distillation Parameters: Case Study of Green Coffee Oil ( Coffea Arabica).* . **MA Durán Rincon, RM Filho, MRW Maciel,.** 2011, Journal of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Vol. 5, pp. 706-10.

104. *Influence of evaporation space geometry on rate of distillation in high-vacuum evaporator*. **Kawala Z, Dakiniewicz P.** 8, 2002, Separation Science and Technology, Vol. 37, pp. 1877-1895.

105. Molecular Distillation of Palm Oil Distillates: Evaporation Rates, Relative Volatility, and Distribution Coefficients of Tocotrienols and other Minor Components. Shi J, Posada LR, Kakuda Y, Jun Xue S, 2007, Vol. 42, pp. 3029–48.

106. Blajan O, Crucean A. Coloana de distilare peliculara. 108847 RO, 1995.

107. Physical properties of glycerol and its solution.

108. F, Shahidi. Bailey's Industrial Oil and Fat Products. 2005, Vol. 4, Chapter 6.

109. K, Suwannakarn. Biodiesel production from high free fatty acid content feedstocks. 2008.

110. **S, Young.** Chapter XXXIX. The Distillation Of Glycerine. *Distillation Principles And Processes*.

111. VC, Mbamalu. Glycerin and the market. Master Thesis. [Online] 2013. http://scholar.utc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1474&context=theses.

112. [Online] http://www.aciscience.org/docs/physical\_properties\_of\_glycerine\_and\_its\_solutions.pdf.

113. **Cremer HW, Davies T.** *Chemical Engineering practice*. London : Butterworth Scientific Publications, 1956. Vol. I. General .

114. *Glycerol for industrial use-Determination of water content-Karl Fischer method.* ISO 2097:1972,

115. Glycerol for industrial use- Determination of ash-Gravimetric method. ISO 2098:1972,

116. *Crude glycerine for industrial use – Calculation of Matter (Organic) Non-Glycerol (MONG).* 2464:2000,

117. Organicum, Chimie Organica practica. s.l. : Editura stiintifica si enciclopedica Bucuresti, 1982 . p. 428.

118. Reaction kinetics of glycerol acetal formation via transacetalization with 1,1diethoxyethane. Hong X, McGiveron O, Kolah AK, Orjuela A, Peereboom L, Lira CT et al. 2013, Chemical Engineering Journal, Vol. 222, pp. 374-81.

119. **EA, Bratu.** *Operatii unitare in ingineria chimica*. Bucuresti : Editura Tehnica, 1984. Vol. II.

120. **Voiculescu V, Baldea I, Preda M.** *Formule. Tabele. Probleme de Chimie Fizica*. s.l. : Editura Dacia Cluj Napoca, 1984.

121. **JF**, **Walker**. *Formaldehyde*. Third . New York : Reinhold Publishing Corporation, 1964. pp. 490-491.

122. Avram M, Mateescu GD. *Spectroscopia in infrarosu. Aplicatii in chimia organica.* Bucuresti : Editura Tehnica, 1966.

123. Appleby DB. Glycerol. In:Knothe G, van Gerpen J, Krahl J. Glycerol. *The biodiesel handbook*. 2005.

124. Performance, Glycerine: an overview. Terms. Technical data. Properties. [Online] 1990.

125. Glycerine: an overview. Terms. Technical data. Properties. Performance. [Online] 1990. http://www.aciscience.org/docs/glycerine\_-\_an\_overview.pdf.

126. *Progress, prospect and challenges in glycerol purification process: A review.* Ardi MS, Aroua MK, Hashim NA. 2015, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Vol. 42, pp. 1164–73.

127. Glycerin- Chemical Economics Handbook (CEH) HIS. [Online]